
 
 
 

Third Floor Conference Room, City Hall 
241 W. South Street, Kalamazoo, MI 49007 

 
Members Present: Chris Wright, Vice Chair (Acting Chair); Peter Carroll; Linda 
   Gentry-Bennett; Josh Willson; Katy Jacobs; Erin Seaverson;   
 
Members Excused: Claire Milne, Chair 
 
City Staff:  Sharon Ferraro, Historic Preservation Coordinator; Amy Thomas,  
   Recording Secretary 
 
Guests:  Sean McCann, City Commissioner; Pam O’Connor; Tony 
   Holewinski; Norm Jung; Curt Aardema  
 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mr. Wright called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
II.  APPROVAL OF ABSENCES 
 
Claire Milne  
 
III.  APPROVAL OF AGENDA (October 14, 2008) 
 
Ms. Ferraro advised that she has new information to discuss regarding the Iannelli 
Fountain, and she has an update to provide regarding the Preserve America application. 
 
Mr. Carroll advised that he would like to add under Old/New Business a debriefing of the 
Traditional Building Conference that he attended in Chicago.   
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett, supported by Ms. Seaverson, moved approval of the October 
14, 2008 Historic Preservation Commission agenda as amended.  With a voice vote, 
the motion carried unanimously. 
 
IV.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES (July 8, 2008) 
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett referred to page 3, under item 6 budget, and requested that “October 
7th” be changed to “October 14th.”  The end of the sentence at the bottom of page 3 was 
cut off.  It should read, “…..by the February meeting.”  Page 4, the motion to approve the 
$365 for Mr. Carroll should also state that he is to provide a report about the conference 
at the next meeting.  Ms. Ferraro suggested that a second sentence be added to the motion 
to state as follows:  “Mr. Carroll will report on the conference at the October meeting.” 
 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Minutes 

October 14, 2008 
DRAFT



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 2 of 16 
 
 
Ms. Seaverson, supported by Ms. Gentry-Bennett, moved approval of the 
September 9, 2008 Historic Preservation Minutes as amended.  With a voice vote, 
the motion carried unanimously.     
 
V.  INTRODUCTION OF GUESTS 
 
Ms. O’Connor introduced Tony Holewinski, Norm Jung, Curt Aardema  
 
VI.  CITIZEN COMMENTS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS 
 
None 
 
VII.  CORRESPONDENCE 
 
Ms. Ferraro referred to the report from the Kalamazoo Foundation that was provided in 
the HPC packets.  Ms. Gentry-Bennett inquired as to the total value.  Ms. O’Connor 
advised that the quarterly report will probably be available next month and it should have 
that information. 
 
VIII.  FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
A.  City Report  
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett advised that the ending working capital is a little over $16,000, 
which is more than adequate to meet the HPC’s remaining needs for 2008 and also 
provide funds for the 2009 budget.  Income from the sale of books has been steady.   
 
Ms. Ferraro inquired if Kalamazoo: Lost and Found was selling any of the second 
printing yet.  Ms. O’Connor stated that there are only about 20 to 30 soft cover books in 
inventory at this point; there is a larger stock of the hard cover books still available in the 
first printing. 
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett stated that the expected expenses through the end of the year will 
bring the working capital down to about $11,000 by the end of 2008.  She inquired if Ms. 
O’Connor had any expenses to submit.  Ms. O’Connor advised that she had only minor 
expenses to report, which she would clarify later in the meeting. 
 
C.  Kalamazoo:  Lost and Found book project. 
 
Ms. O’Connor inquired if the HPC would like to do a WMUK book promotion this year, 
as in prior years since the book was published.  Also, will there by any other holiday 
marketing for the book?  She stated that a book signing is scheduled at Barnes and Noble 
on the 14th of December.  Ms. Ferraro advised that the WMUK sponsorship was $525 last 
year.  A total of $550 has already been set aside this year for the WMUK sponsorship.   



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 3 of 16 
 
 
 
Ms. O’Connor stated that she will check with Ms. Houghton to see if Gazelle Sports 
might be interested in selling the books.  Ms. Houghton is partnering with Gazelle to do 
the historic walks.  Ms. O’Connor has an appointment with the Convention and Visitors 
Bureau at the end of October to see if they would like to carry the book in their 
Kalamazoo store.  The store carries several Kalamazoo books as well as other Kalamazoo 
items.  Discussion followed as to whether or not City Attorney, Clyde Robinson, has a 
copy of Kalamazoo Lost and Found; Ms. Ferraro advised that she would look into that.  
 
Ms. O’Connor inquired if Mr. Willson had checked with the Nature Connection to find 
out if they are interesting in carrying the book.  Mr. Willson stated that they are 
considering it.   
 
Mr. Willson mentioned the number of at downtown retail locations carrying Kalamazoo 
Lost and Found.  He expressed concern with regard to over saturation.  That brings up 
concerns from a marketing standpoint.  Ms. O’Connor stated that when the book was 
originally marketed, it was at 7 or 8 downtown locations.  The book is now available at 
fewer than half of those sites.  The book is available at the Heritage Company and 
Verdegres.  The KIA may still have a few books but they haven’t taken any in a long 
time.  They are no longer at Amy Zane’s store, which has closed and the shop that has 
replaced it has opted not to carry the books.  The Michigan Newsstand only orders the 
books at Christmas time.  Rio, the shop in the Radisson, has not order the books in 
several months.  Mr. Willson said he would inquire if the Park Club would be willing to 
take some of the books to sell.  Ms. O’Connor advised that she would proceed with the 
WMUK sponsorship and follow up with the Park Club and the Convention and Visitors’ 
Bureau.  Ms. Seaverson inquired if the WMUK sponsorship would mention the 
Kalamazoo: Lost and Found book signing, and Ms. O’Connor responded in the 
affirmative. 
 
B.  O’Connor Fund 
 
Ms. O’Connor inquired if the HPC would like to include a copy of Where Place Prospers 
in the O’Connor Fund mailing this year.  The mailing will be sent to approximately 200 
people.  Ms. Ferraro was in favor of proceeding with that suggestion.  Discussion 
followed with regard to the option of sending the publication without an envelope; it 
would cost about $1.30 each to mail them.  Ms. Ferraro advised that the letter would be 
sent with the publication so it should either be in an envelope or the letter should be taped 
inside the publication.  The general consensus was that mailing the information in an 
envelope would be preferable.   
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett suggested sending a copy of Where Place Prospers to people who 
have donated in the past, since that would be about half of the people on the list.  Ms. 
Ferraro stated that she would donate the envelopes.  Ms. O’Connor stated that the letters 
cost 42 cents each to mail.  The additional expense for sending the publication would be 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 4 of 16 
approximately $250.00 total but there is money available to do that.  Ms. Ferraro offered 
to print the return address labels.  Ms. O’Connor mentioned that in the years a gift was 
included with the mailing, the HPC has receives more contributions.  Ms. Seaverson 
mentioned that the mailing will be sent to people who have supported the O’Connor Fund 
and historic preservation in the past so they may be interested in providing additional 
financial support.  Ms. Ferraro stated that Where Place Prospers is a publication showing 
the accomplishments of preservation in Kalamazoo in the last 30 years, as well as areas 
still in need of attention.  Mr. Jung commented that the publication may provide 
alternative ideas for people contemplating projects.  It was suggested that a motion be 
made to approve this idea since it represents an increase in the cost of the mailing.  The 
HPC already has envelopes available for the mailing.  Ms. O’Connor stated that an 
envelope from the Kalamazoo Foundation will no longer be included in the mailing.  The 
HPC would be providing the envelopes at a cost of 50 cents each if they include them in 
the mailing this year.  The HPC was not charged for the envelopes in prior years. 
 
Ms. Seaverson, supported by Ms. Jacobs, moved approval to include the publication 
Where Place Prospers in the mailing for the O’Connor Fund solicitation for 2008.  
The motion includes approval for the increase in cost for the mailing of $250.00.  
With a roll call vote, the motion carried unanimously. 
 
After a brief discussion, it was decided that everyone helping with the mailing would 
meet at Mr. Willson’s house on November 13th at 6:30 p.m. to stuff envelopes.  Ms. 
O’Connor advised that she and Chris maintain the mailing list.  Accordingly, Ms. 
O’Connor’s name and address should be on the return address label.   
 
Discussion followed with regard to the content of the solicitation letter for the O’Connor 
Fund.  Ms. Gentry-Bennett read the letter out loud, which includes language pertaining to 
Where Place Prospers.  Ms. Seaverson suggested that the phrase, “for your review” 
should be changed to, “as our gift to you”.  The current wording seems to imply that 
input is being requested from people receiving the publication.   
 
IX.  ACTION AND DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 
A.  Work Plan Reports from Team Leaders 
 
1.  Designation 
   
Ms. Seaverson and Ms. Jacobs had no information to report. 
 
2.  Communication 
 
Mr. Wright had no information to report. 
 
3.  Partnership Development 
 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 5 of 16 
Ms. Jacobs advised that she and Ms. Seaverson determined that there are people who 
would be willing to partner with the HPC.  However, Ms. Jacobs expressed concern that 
she and Ms. Seaverson don’t have enough knowledge about the preservation community 
to be able to create a well-rounded program.   She suggested including Ms. O’Connor and 
Ms. Ferraro in the discussions.  Ms. Jacobs stated that she and Ms. Seaverson hope to 
have a plan of action by January so that organizations can include important dates on 
their calendars.  There is potential for partnership with the AIA (American Institute of 
Architects) for an event in May.  Other potential partners are Gazelle Sports, the 
Engineering Group and the Kalamazoo Library/Museum, but there should to be 
clarification on what the partnership entails.   
 
Ms. Ferraro suggested having a lunch meeting at her office at the City’s Community 
Planning and Development Department to further discuss this matter.   
 
4.  Preservation Month 
 
Ms. Ferraro advised that the Old House Network voted at their last board meeting to 
designate a house on Douglas Ave. as the subject of the Great Unveiling.  The subject 
property is a two-story house, and the owners are ready to proceed with renovations once 
the siding is removed.  Arrangements are being made to obtain the necessary insurance 
and a dumpster for the project.  The owners have made arrangements with a neighbor to 
provide a lunch buffet for workers involved with the project.  The house is cater-corner 
(across the street) from the Harper Funeral Home on Douglas Ave.  It is a vernacular 
Queen Anne style with a Craftsman double porch added to the front.  The asbestos siding 
will be stripped from the house; safety equipment will be provided for people working on 
the house.  Habitat for Humanity may also be involved with this project. 
 
The Great Unveiling will be scheduled for a Saturday in May but an exact date has not 
yet been determined.  The public is invited to this event, which will be announced at the 
Expo.  Ms. Ferraro stated that she is hoping to coordinate the unveiling with other events 
that are being held around that time.  Ms. O’Connor stated that the MHPN conference 
will be held from May 14th through the 16th in Grand Rapids at the old YWCA.  Ms. 
Ferraro is hoping to get the Kalamazoo Gazette or WWMT to do a story about the 
unveiling.  A banner advertising the event will be placed on the house approximately two 
weeks before work begins.  An event banner can remain in place for up to two weeks 
without a permit or fee. 
 
Mr. Wright stated that he contacted the library and was advised that it costs $20.00 for 
the Van Deusen room for the movie, “Blue Vinyl”.  There is no licensing fee to show the 
movie, but there is requirement that a discussion take place afterward regarding the 
dangers of PVC.  Mr. Wright stated that he would find out if there is a charge for using 
the projector.   
 
Mr. Willson spoke with Dick Barron of the Friends of Historic East Campus (FOHEC) 
about having Donovan Rypkema come to Kalamazoo to do a presentation on 
preservation.  He requested help from the HPC members and, particularly, Ms. O’Connor 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 6 of 16 
with regard to getting the speaker.  Mr. Willson is hoping to have Mr. Rypkema speak at 
Western Michigan University.   
 
Ms. O’Connor stated that she spoke with Mr. Barron’s predecessor John Houdek about 
having Mr. Rypkema speak at WMU.  Representatives from the University were 
enthusiastic about having him provide a presentation.  Mr. Willson advised that he will be 
meeting with FOHEC representatives tomorrow to further discuss this subject.  Ms. 
O’Connor recalled that Mr. Rypkema charged $2,500 six years ago when he came to 
Kalamazoo to speak.  She advised that he can be reached at www.placeeconomics.com .  
 
Ms. O'Connor has contacted Mike Jackson, from the Illinois State Historic Preservation 
Office, who gave a speech regarding preservation and sustainability for the National 
Trust Partners meeting in April.  Mr. Jackson is a dynamic speaker who provided a 
demonstrative slide presentation. If the HPC can work with him to provide a presentation 
on a Thursday in May, he can coordinate the visit with his family in Michigan. Mr. 
Jackson will charge $1,500, which includes his travel expenses. He is available in May 
but not for Earth Day. Mr. Jackson encourages preservationists to partner with 
environmentalists. He also likes to do a public presentation and then participate in a 
meeting afterward with local organizations regarding programs and policies.  
 
Ms. O'Connor advised that when Mr. Rypkema spoke in Kalamazoo, he gave a speech to 
a group in the morning, he spoke to city officials and downtown administrators at an 
afternoon session, and then he provided a public presentation in the evening. Ms. 
O'Connor inquired if the HPC would like to set a date for Mr. Jackson to come to 
Kalamazoo to speak. He is already booked for fall so Ms. O'Connor would like to 
schedule him to speak in Kalamazoo next spring.  
 
Ms. Seaverson suggested that the Southwest Michigan Sustainable Business Forum might 
be interested in hosting a speaker.  She was uncertain as to when they meet and advised 
that they might not be able to fund the cost of the speaker.   However, they might be part 
of the public forum or discussion with business leaders if that were to take place.  
 
Ms. O'Connor commented that the sustainability portion of preservation has been missing 
from the conversation. Since Mr. Jackson is a preservation architect, the Southwest 
Michigan AIA might be a potential partner. Architects are generally leaders in the 
sustainability movement, but not all of them make the link between preservation and 
sustainability.  
 
Ms. Jacobs suggested waiting until the HPC meets again to figure out whether there is a 
venue where Mr. Jackson's presentation might be appropriate. Ms. O'Connor commented 
that the decision regarding the speaker could wait until next HPC meeting. She will 
communicate with Mr. Jackson to advise that this matter will be discussed further at an 
interim meeting and a final decision will likely be made next month.  
 
Mr. Willson inquired if there is a possibility of another group assisting with financial 
support regarding the speaker's fees. Ms. O'Connor suggested that information regarding 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 7 of 16 
potential partners could be discussed at the next meeting.  
 
 
IANNELLI FOUNTAIN  
 
Mr. Carroll advised that the subcommittee met in September. He provided copies of the 
notes that were taken at the meeting. The subcommittee is working on compiling a packet 
regarding the Iannelli Fountain in order to proceed with requesting a grant. Listed on 
page 1 of the notes are items which the subcommittee felt were important. He requested 
consensus with the rest of the HPC members regarding those item, and inquired if there 
was any additions to the outline for the packet as presented.  
 
Ms. O'Connor suggested adding information about lobbying the city administration for a 
new CIP (Capital Improvement Fund) allocation. She stated that due to the budget 
process being nearly completed this year, Ms. Ferraro had recommended pursuing this 
matter in January of 2009. That would allow time to have a discussion with staff at the 
parks department since the fountain is in a city park. Ms. Ferraro advised that the 
fountain is not a top priority of the parks department. Ms. O'Connor stated that she would 
still like to pursue this matter with staff in that department.  
 
Ms. Carroll stated that the subcommittee will pursue the completion of a professional-
looking packet and use the $40,000 in available funds to leverage matching grant funds. 
This will coincide with efforts to pursue funds in the 2010 city budget. Hopefully, during 
the CIP negotiations in the summer, the subcommittee can approach the city about any 
budget shortfalls regarding the fountain.  
 
Ms. O'Connor advised that she was in Chicago last weekend. She picked up two more 
sheets of plans from David Jamieson for the Iannelli Fountain. Ms. O'Connor requested 
reimbursement for her taxi fare for this trip. Mr. Jamieson provided Ms. O'Connor with a 
file to copy containing correspondence between Alfonso Iannelli and Lydia Siedschlag. 
The file is over an inch thick. Ms. O'Connor expressed enthusiasm for having an exhibit 
about the fountain to correspond with the release of Mr. Jamieson's book, which is 
nearing completion. Mr. Jamieson suggested that the HPC might launch an exhibit and 
restoration of the fountain to coincide with a book signing. Mr. Jamieson cannot speak 
publicly due to a voice disability, but he might be willing to do a slide presentation.  
 
Mr. Carroll inquired if there were any additions to the case statement outlined by the 
subcommittee. Ms. Seaverson referred to the landfill issue discussed on the second page 
of the report and advised that concrete and re-bar are recyclable. Ms. Jacobs mentioned 
the cost of transporting material to the landfill. Ms. Ferraro suggested removing the word 
“demolished” from the text. Ms. O'Connor suggested the wording, “restoration is 
sustainable” Mr. Wright inquired as to the urgency of this matter, and Ms. Ferraro 
advised that there is some deterioration but it is not urgent at this point.  
 
A brief discussion followed with regard to deferred maintenance. Ms. Ferraro suggested 
rewording the text to include the term “deferred maintenance.” Ms. O'Connor inquired as 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 8 of 16 
to why a CIP allocation would not be possible this year. Ms. Ferraro confirmed that the  
Director of Community Planning and Development had advised that it is too late to 
pursue a CIP allocation this year. Ms. Ferraro advised that if the engineering report and 
the plumbing report had indicated action should take place within the next 12 months or 
irreparable damage could occur, then she would have pushed harder for a CIP allocation 
this year. Pushing for CIP funds this late in the year might only cause ill will against the 
HPC since funding would probably have to be diverted from another project for use on 
the fountain. Ms. Ferraro suggested gathering information that will be compelling enough 
to warrant funding of repairs to the fountain next year and allow time to identify potential 
grant partners.  
 
Ms. O'Connor requested permission to submit approximately $20.00 worth of receipts for 
taxi fare to and from the architect gallery in Chicago.  
 
Ms. Seaverson, supported by Ms. Jacobs, moved approval for reimbursement of Ms. 
O'Connor's taxi fare incurred while obtaining records in Chicago regarding the 
Iannelli Fountain. With a roll call vote, the motion carried unanimously.  
 
Ms. Ferraro stated that she has been in contact with a firm who can make a custom cover 
for the Iannelli Fountain. The company has been in business since 1855. The estimate for 
the cost of the cover is $2,998.40. It will not cover the sculpture or the open part where 
the jets are, but it will cover the walls around the edge and all of the shelves. For an 
additional cost, the firm could also be responsible for putting the cover on, taking it off, 
cleaning, repairing and storing it every year. The cover is made of a woven vinyl and is 
available in a color that will match the fountain. The cover should help prevent further 
damage to the fountain by keeping snow and ice from resting on it. The firm estimates 
that the cover will last at least 10 years. Ms. Ferraro advised that if the HPC is in favor of 
proceeding with this option, she will take the next steps with the city.  
 
Mr. Carroll inquired if Ms. Ferraro was suggesting that the cover be used in the interim 
and she responded in the affirmative. Ms. Ferraro stated that she will be meeting with 
Tom Nehil, who provided the condition assessment report, to inquire if it would be worth 
to work quickly to get the fountain covered for the upcoming winter or if we could wait 
until next year.  
 
Mr. Jung inquired as to how much the yearly maintenance fee would cost. Ms. Ferraro 
advised that the installation cost for the first year would be $1,300.00 because that 
includes charges for fitting the cover. Thereafter, the fee for putting the cover on, taking 
it off and storing it would be approximately $600.00. Funds for this project would come 
from the city.  
 
Ms. O'Connor inquired as to what other communities do to maintain large pieces of water 
sculpture. Ms. Ferraro advised that most other sculptures are made of marble rather than 
concrete, except the Jackson Cascades, which doesn't hold much snow and ice because of 
the way it is slanted. Mr. Jung inquired as to the construction materials of the 
Buckingham Fountain in Chicago. Ms. O'Connor advised that the Buckingham Fountain 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 9 of 16 
was closed for restoration when she saw it recently and she wondered about the 
maintenance procedures for that fountain.  
 
Mr. Wright stated that he would prefer to avoid using vinyl is possible, especially since 
sustainability is an issue. Ms. Ferraro questioned if there would be another equally cost 
effective material. Ms. O'Connor advised that she was not against having a cover made. 
However, since this matter is not urgent enough for a CIP allocation to be pursued this 
year, it might be advisable to wait and think about packaging the cost of a cover into the 
total restoration costs. She referred to Ms. Ferraro's comments about the fountain waiting 
another 20 years without incurring additional substantial damage. Ms. Ferraro advised 
that what she was trying to convey is that it could be another 20 years before the fountain 
becomes hazardous. If the repairs are not made soon, there is danger of losing the 
fountain.  
 
Ms. Seaverson stated that she thought the damage to the fountain would likely accelerate. 
Keeping the water off will prevent the damage from getting worse and escalating the cost 
for repairs. Discussion followed with regard to the cost of the initial cost of the cover and 
the additional maintenance costs. Ms. Ferraro stated that the firm told her that the cover 
can be designed so that someone from the Parks and Recreation Department can take care 
of it. However, the Parks and Recreation Department has already expressed a disinterest 
in being involved with the fountain.  
 
Ms. Seaverson expressed concern with regard to the cost involved with the engineering 
drawings for the cover, and whether the cover can but cut with a knife and vandalized. 
Ms. Ferraro stated that the cost of the drawings is included in the estimate. She inquired 
about the possibility of the cover being damaged and was advised that it can be repaired 
the next day on site without being removed. Ms. Ferraro advised that she was not sure 
who would pay for the repairs.  
 
Ms. O'Connor observed that employees from the Parks and Recreation Department 
remove snow from the sidewalks in the park every day when it snows. She inquired as to 
why those workers can't brush the snow off the fountain. Ms. Ferraro advised that the 
situation is more complicated than just brushing off the snow; the moisture absorbs in the 
building material. Also, rain and ice cause damage. The engineers advised keeping as 
much moisture as possible off the fountain in the winter.  
 
Mr. Jung expressed concern about how much worse the fountain might look in 20 years 
or by the time the fountain is declared a hazard. Ms. Seaverson commented that the 
fountain will not likely be declared a life\safety issue since it is not high overhead like the 
water tower. She advised that the current condition of the fountain is urgent enough to 
warrant covering it now.  
 
Ms. Ferraro advised that with the approval of the HPC, she will talk with the Parks and 
Recreation Department and other city officials about having the cover made. She needs to 
know if the HPC feels the cover is worth spending the money on. Mr. Jung inquired if 
Ms. Ferraro had references to other jobs the manufacturer has completed. Ms. Ferraro 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 10 of 16 
replied that the firm has worked on the Snow Leopard exhibit at the John Ball Park in 
Grand Rapids. He is also working on the Snow Leopard exhibit for Binder Park Zoo in 
Battle Creek. He does all types of custom covers and awnings in any shape.  
 
Ms. O'Connor stated that she felt the cover was worth pursuing, but she wanted to know 
where the money is coming from.  Mr. Carroll expressed concern that if the money for 
the cover is taken out of the $40,000 in remaining HPC funds, the decrease in funds 
might affect the HPC's ability to leverage money from other sources.  Ms. O'Connor 
inquired if the HPC would responsible for the annual charges incurred for having the 
cover removed and stored, etc. Ms. Ferraro advised that expense would be paid for out of 
city funds. Ms. O'Connor stated that she would like to have that commitment secured 
before proceeding. Ms. Gentry-Bennett suggested that the Parks and Recreation 
Department should at least split the cost of the expense since they are supposed to take 
care of the fountain. Mr. Wright advised making sure the material being used is 
appropriate for that use before spending the money to have the cover made. The general 
consensus from the HPC was that the cover is worth pursuing.  
 
Ms. Seaverson inquired if “Apjohn” was an entity that she hadn't heard of or if it was 
“Upjohn” misspelled. Mr. Carroll stated that it is a venture capital group comprised of 
former Upjohn employees. They fund health/science business start-ups. He inquired if 
there were other companies that anyone knew of that might be helpful for providing grant 
funds for the fountain project. Ms. Seaverson inquired if anyone had done a grant search 
at the library. Ms. Ferraro advised that the city's former Grants Coordinator did a grant 
search about six years ago and he came up with a similar list of names.  
 
Ms. Seaverson suggested a search for funding sources in areas other than Kalamazoo. 
Ms. O'Connor stated that it would be unlikely that an out of town source would provide 
funds for the fountain. Mr. Jung stated that he would e-mail the Chicago city historian to 
find out if he knows of any grant sources . Ms. Seaverson commented that if the fountain 
could be nominated at the national level of significance, then why couldn't it receive 
grants at the national level Ms. O'Connor stated that there are no federal grants for this 
type of project other than the CLG  grant. Ms. Ferraro referred to the Preserve America 
grant and stated that she will be finishing the application this year. However, that is 
already a known source. Ms. O'Connor stated that she went through an exhaustive grant 
search several years ago during the creation of Kalamazoo: Lost and Found. Many of the 
names of the grant sources on the current list are there because they were willing to help 
fund the book. 
 
6. Budget  
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett advised that the HPC has approximately the same amount of money 
($11,000) in the budget to work with for next year. The money has not all been spent in 
prior years. Accordingly, she is proposing that budget remain the same for the upcoming 
year. She inquired if the expenses for Art Hop are covered by the entity who is hosting it. 
Ms. Jacobs advised that the HPC would be considered the host of the event even though 
the exhibit would be at Eckert-Wordell.  Mr. Willson expressed concern that Eckert-



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 11 of 16 
Wordell would not be setting a good precedent if they didn't contribute to the cost. 
Discussion followed as to how the cost would be handled and the need for further 
clarification.  
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett expressed concern about the Art Hop budget for the upcoming year 
and the more expensive items that have been suggested for the event. The hope is to 
incorporate as many of the suggestions as possible, but they might not all be used. There 
is over $5,300 set aside for preservation education, and that includes preservation month, 
neighborhood assistance and general preservation education. Ms. Jacobs advised that 
Eckert-Wordell might be willing to split the cost of hosting the Art Hop with the HPC. 
Ms. O'Connor suggested deferring this conversation until the next meeting, at which time 
more details regarding numbers should be available for discussion. Ms. Gentry-Bennett 
advised that the overall budget for preservation month has been $2,000 in the past. The 
total amount for public education is $5,350. Ms. Seaverson suggested staying with the 
$2,000 budget for preservation month. Those funds would pay for budget items other 
than the speaker.  
 
Ms Seaverson, supported by Ms. Jacobs, moved approval to allocate $11,000 for the 
2009 Historic Preservation Commission budget. With a roll call vote, the motion 
carried unanimously.  
 
B. OLD/NEW BUSINESS  
 
Grand Rapids NAPC Conference  
 
Ms. Ferraro advised that Rhonda Baker, the Historic Preservation Coordinator from 
Grand Rapids, inquired if Kalamazoo's HPC would be willing to support the National 
Alliance for Preservation Commission conference in Grand Rapids in 2010. Boise, Idaho 
is also a contender to host the conference in 2010. Part of the process of hosting the 
conference is to obtain local sponsors to help cover costs. Funds for this conference 
would be allocated in the 2010 budget. The Grand Rapids preservation office needs a 
letter pledging support from the HPC for the conference. Ms. Ferraro inquired if the City 
of Kalamazoo would be willing to pledge money to support the conference. She was 
advised that monetary support from the City of Kalamazoo would only be made available 
if the conference was held in Kalamazoo. Ms. Ferraro has been given permission to 
donate her time to help with the conference in Grand Rapids,  
 
Mr. Aardema inquired regarding the benefit to Kalamazoo for participating in the Grand 
Rapids conference. Ms. Ferraro advised that the Grand Rapids conference is a nationally 
recognized gathering of historic preservation commissions across the nation that takes 
place every two years. Mr. Aardema inquired if Kalamazoo would be providing a 
presentation at the national conference. Ms. Ferraro stated that she hoped there would be 
a tour of Kalamazoo in conjunction with the national conference in Grand Rapids.  
 
Ms. O'Connor suggested that the HPC consider providing scholarships for some of the 
local commissioners to attend the Grand Rapids conference as a way of showing support. 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 12 of 16 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett questioned if there would be funds available for the conference in 
2010 since the only money coming in is from book sales. If the $11,000 budget is 
depleted in 2009, there might not be enough money to cover additional expenses the 
following year. The yearly book sales have been totaling approximately $1,000.  
 
Ms. O'Connor advised that the O'Connor Fund was created to support the work of the 
HPC and could be used for the conference. Ms. Gentry Bennett expressed concern that by 
2010 the HPC may only have half of the money that is currently available. Ms. Ferraro 
suggested that the HPC pledge a maximum of $500 for the national conference. She 
added that the O'Connor fund is earmarked for preservation efforts in Kalamazoo. 
Therefore, she questioned if it would be appropriate for those funds to be used for a 
conference in Grand Rapids.  
 
Discussion followed as to whether or not it would be appropriate to use the O'Connor 
fund to send commissioners from Kalamazoo to the Grand Rapids conference. Ms. 
Ferraro advised that she thought the cost of the conference was between $135 to $150 per 
person. She stated that the Grand Rapids group is probably looking for sponsors whose 
names will be added to a list of supporters in a publication for the convention. It is a 
tangible benefit for Kalamazoo to have the national conference in Grand Rapids rather 
than Boise, Idaho, since there will not likely be enough money to send the commissioners 
to Idaho.  
 
Concern was expressed that the HPC might be making a policy decision to actively 
support the HDC (Historic District Commission). Ms. Ferraro stated that most cities have 
one commission that fills both roles (HPC and HDC). Kalamazoo is blessed to have two 
historic commissions. This has helped Kalamazoo achieve many of its goals by spreading 
the workload among a larger number of commissioners.  
 
Ms. Ferraro stated that Grand Rapids will likely know within the next couple of months 
whether or not they have been chosen to host the conference. Ms. Seaverson mentioned 
that there is normally an education requirement for commissioners anyway, why not use 
the Grand Rapids conference to fulfill the education requirement in 2010. Ms. Ferraro 
advised that she has spoken to managers at the city regarding the possibility of adding 
training funds to the budget for commissioners on the HPC and HDC. This would allow  
the city to help support the cost of education for its volunteers. At this point, the HDC has 
only $300 per year to use for education and training.  
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett, supported by Ms. Jacobs, moved to allocate $500 from the 
2010 budget for the National Alliance of Preservation Commissions conference in 
Grand Rapids, if Grand Rapids is chosen to host the conference. With a roll call 
vote, the motion carried unanimously.  
 
Mr. Aardema inquired if the allocation could be made contingent on Kalamazoo 
providing a tour or presentation at the national conference. Ms. Ferraro stated that she 
would offer to do a presentation on the dual-commissions concept and how well it works 
in Kalamazoo. The person who does the presentation would receive a free 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 13 of 16 
membership/registration for the conference. A trip to Kalamazoo could be one of the 
excursions from the Grand Rapids conference. Staff from the preservation office in 
Grand Rapids is putting together a packet for NAPC to consider. If the proposal from 
Grand Rapids appears to more dynamic with the capacity to raise more money, that will 
increase the chances of Grand Rapids being chosen to host the national conference. A 
commitment from Kalamazoo would be helpful to add to their budget.  
 
Mr. Wilson suggested tabling this matter in order to allow time to obtain more 
information. He inquired as to the deadline for submitting the packet. Ms. Ferraro advised 
that they have already submitted their preliminary packet and the site selection committee 
has made an initial visit. Discussion followed as to whether or not it would be beneficial 
to delay a decision on this matter to await further information. It was suggested that the 
HPC proceed with a vote on the motion, which was passed unanimously.  
 
Old House Expo  
 
Ms. Ferraro advised that the Old House Expo will be held on January 24, 2009. The 
secretary of the board decided to ask Gordon Bock, the former editor of the Old House 
Journal, to speak at the Expo. He is willing to speak with other interested groups during 
his visit to Kalamazoo. The Old House Network is looking for financial support from the 
HPC for bringing in this speaker. Mr. Bock charges $700 to speak, plus lodging and 
airfare, which will be approximately $350 from Silver Springs, MD. The entire cost will 
be approximately $1,500. The HPC will have a booth at the Expo.  
 
Ms. Jacobs, supported by Mr. Carroll, moved to allocate $500 from the 2009 HPC 
budget for Gordon Bach to speak at the Old House Network Expo. With a roll call 
vote, the motion carried with 5 ayes and one abstention. Mr. Willson abstained from 
voting because he is a board member of the Old House Network.  
 
Work Plan  
 
Mr. Wright advised that he had a conference call with Ms. O'Connor and Alan Levy the 
other day. Consideration was given to bumping the planning session into January. The 
following dates were given as possibilities: January 10, January 17 or February 7. Ms. 
Ferraro stated that she would prefer February 7. Mr. Wright advised that this matter 
should be taken care of within a month. Ms. O'Connor stated that this may involve 
changes in the way the HPC does business. The reports should be provided electronically 
at least a week before the meeting, and committee work should not be done at the HPC 
meetings. This should help shorten the meetings. After a brief discussion, it was 
determined that February 7 would be the best date, which will be contingent upon the 
approval of Mr. Levy’s fee. Mr. Wright stated that he would contact Mr. Levy and 
provide more details at the next meeting.  
 
Ms. Jacobs inquired if the subcommittee reports should be copied to the entire 
commission. Mr. Wright suggested putting the name of the group in the subject title of 
the e-mail and sending it to the entire group for review. Only changes to the original 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 14 of 16 
report should be discussed at the meeting.  
 
Downtown Comprehensive Plan (DKI)  
 
Ms. Ferraro advised that DKI would be willing to give a presentation to the HPC 
regarding the Downtown Comprehensive Plan. She inquired if the HPC would like to 
have the presentation added to next month's agenda. It was suggested that the meeting 
start early in order to allow time for the presentation. The presentation lasted 
approximately 30 minutes when it was provided to the Planning Commission a couple 
weeks ago. Ms. Ferraro stated that she would book the meeting room for 6:30 p.m. for the 
November HPC meeting, provided that DKI is available to provide the presentation on 
the date of the November meeting. The November HPC meeting is currently scheduled 
for November 11, which is Veterans' Day. City offices will be closed that day. After a 
brief discussion, it was determined that the next HPC meeting would be held on 
Wednesday, November 5 at 6:30 p.m.  
 
Ms. Gentry-Bennett, supported by Ms. Seaverson, moved that the next HPC 
meeting be held on Wednesday, November 5 at 6:30 p.m. to allow time for the 
presentation from DKI. With a voice vote, the motion carried unanimously.  
 
“Where Place Prospers” discuss plans.  
 
Ms. O'Connor advised that many of copies will be given away to coordinators and 
contributors. Some of the copies will be mailed and she is hoping that DKI will assist 
with the mailing. MHPN will get a 100 of the publications. She suggested provided 
copies to the National Trust in whatever quantity they request since they provided a grant 
to the HPC. Only one of the links is up and running. Ms. O'Connor inquired as to what is 
happening with the city link. Ms. Ferraro advised that LKF Marketing is responsible for 
the website and someone is working with them to remedy problems. Ms. O'Connor 
advised that information should be on the National Trust website shortly. It will also be 
advertised on an e-mail to be sent by the Network within the next 10 business days. DKI, 
the National Trust and the City of Kalamazoo should eventually have information on 
their websites.  
 
Ms. O'Connor stated that DKI has promised to put information about the publication in a 
hard copy newsletter, on their e-mail distribution list. They have also advised that they 
will provide their mailing list of about 700 residents in the downtown area. Ms. Ferraro 
suggested that the mailing list be provided on labels and reviewed prior to mailing. The 
list will likely be whittled down to about 300 people. Ms. O'Connor stated that the 
publication can be made into a self-mailer for about $1.34 each. Therefore, the $500 set 
aside for the mailing should cover the cost. DKI advised that they will distribute it from 
their office. She suggested having a couple locations at city offices where the publication 
can be made available. Ms. Ferraro suggesting the City Manager's office and the 
Economic Development Department as possible locations.  
 
Ms. O'Connor stated that there will be about 800 of the publications remaining for 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 15 of 16 
distribution after the DKI mailing and the distribution to city offices. Ms. Ferraro 
suggested mailing them to member of the DTI board. The names are available on the 
incorporation site list.  
 
Ms. O'Connor inquired if the city received an invoice from Judy Fagin. Ms. Ferraro 
confirmed that the invoice was turned over to the appropriate city staff for processing. 
Ms. O'Connor stated that Peter Brakeman did the design work for the publication. She 
suggested purchasing a $100 gift certificate from the Food Dance Restaurant as a thank 
you from the HPC for Mr. Brakeman's contribution. Ms. O'Connor stated that she 
incurred about $70 worth of expenses in color cartridges and PDF's of the old Arcadia 
Creek Plan and she would like to be reimbursed. She suggesting purchasing the gift 
certificate for Mr. Brakeman and adding that amount to her expenses for reimbursement.  
 
Mr. Willson, supported by Mr. Carroll, moved to reimburse Ms. O'Connor for her 
personal expenses regarding “Where Place Prospers” as well as a gift certificate for 
Peter Brakeman for a total of $170. With a roll call vote, the motion carried 
unanimously.  
 
Once DKI provides the list, a meeting will need to be scheduled for addressing the 
mailings. The print for the return address needs to be very small to fit in the area 
provided. The return address will be 445 W. Michigan.  
 
C. CITY REPORTS  
 
Mr. Carroll advised that he would be e-mailing his report and defer discussion to next 
month.  
 
Ms. Ferraro provided the coordinator's report for the third quarter. Things have been 
busier lately than usual. She hopes to have an update regarding east campus at the next 
meeting. The first meeting of the task force will take place on October 22 and will likely 
include Lowell Rinker and Dave Dakin from WMU and possibly Ms. Ferraro, Jeff 
Chamberlain and Martha Aills from the City's Community Planning and Development 
Department. This series of meetings was instigated by the university.  
 
Ms. Ferraro provided a copies of the Preserve America Application. Letters of support 
will be requested from appointed and elected officials in the area. Support will be sought 
from Fred Upton. The application is one step toward becoming a Preserve America 
Community, which is step one in applying for a Preserve America grant.  
 
Ms. Ferraro advised that she had been approached by a local property management 
group. They want to use one of their vacant properties on Potter Street to do a 
demonstration house for sustainability and preservation in one building. It will be 
affordable and eligible for the historic tax credit.  
 



Historic Preservation Minutes 
October 14, 2008 
Page 16 of 16 
CITIZEN COMMENTS  
 
Ms. O'Connor stated that the Preservation Network had its fall fund raiser last Friday 
night. The new tax credit bill will be a five year program and will add an additional 15% 
credit to big projects. Twenty-five percent of it is set aside for small projects. The bill has 
passed through the Senate and the Speaker of the House advises that the bill will be 
passed through the House. This may happen before the end of the year. This will provide 
a total 35% tax credit for larger commercial projects.  
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 
Mr. Willson, supported by Ms. Jacobs, moved to adjourn the October 14th meeting 
of the Historic Preservation Commission. With a voice vote, the motion carried 
unanimously.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:20 p.m.  
 
 
Submitted by: _______________________________ Dated: ______________________  
 
 
Reviewed by: _______________________________ Dated: _______________________  
 
 
Approved by: _______________________________ Dated: _______________________  
 


